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TO

THE BRONX 





I sat me down upon a green bank

side, 




Skirting the smooth edge of a

gentle river, 




Whose waters seemed unwillingly

to glide, 




Like parting friends, who linger

while they sever; 




Enforced to go, yet seeming still

unready, 




Backward they wind their way in

many a wistful eddy. 




And I did leave thy loveliness to

stand 




Again in the dull world of

earthly blindness, 




Pain'd with the pressure of

unfriendly hands, 




Sick of smooth looks, agued with

icy kindness; 




Left I for this thy shades, where

none intrude, 




To prison wandering thought and

mar sweet solitude. 




Yet I will look upon thy face

again, 




My own romantic Bronx, and it

will be 




A face more pleasant than the

face of men. 




Thy waves are old companions; I

shall see 




A well-remembered form in each

old tree, 




And hear a voice long loved in

thy wild minstrelsy. 




Joseph Rodman Drake. 


















 





INTRODUCTION







THE preparation of this history

has taken over a decade, during which time I have jotted down various facts and

incidents as I have run across them, either in books, or in the daily press, or

in magazines. I have kept no account of the sources from which I have drawn my

facts, so that I can furnish no bibliography. The principal sources from which

a great deal of the early historical matter has been drawn are Bolton's History

of Westchester County (both editions) and Scharf's History of Westchester

County. The earlier history of the Borough can be found in both these works, if

one has plenty of time to search for it. 




The facts in regard to railroads

I have obtained from the reports of the State Engineer, from those of the

Railroad Commission, from Poor's Manual, and from the officials of the several

roads of which descriptions are given. I have, also, received direct

information in regard to churches from the pastors and others connected with

such institutions. I am especially indebted to Father D. P. O'Neil for

information concerning the Roman Catholic Church. 




Most of the pictures illustrating

this book are from actual photographs taken by me. Few old prints of the

Borough exist; but J. Clarence Davies, Esq. has a very fine collection of New

York prints and pictures which he very kindly placed at my disposal for

copying. Others have been equally kind in other matters, and I here wish to

thank those who have so kindly taken the trouble to answer my inquiries or to

give me information. 




There are to-day in the old city

of New York (the Borough of Manhattan) but three pre-Revolutionary structures

of a public or semi-public character: Fraunces’ Tavern, St. Paul's Chapel, and

the Roger Morris, or " Jumel, " mansion. Within the Borough of The

Bronx there are still a number of historic landmarks. If this book lead to the

preservation of but one of these, I shall feel that it has not been written in

vain. 




Stephen Jenkins. Mt. Vernon, New

York, April, 1912. 




 


















 





CHAPTER I. THE POLITICAL FORMATION OF THE BOROUGH, AND

ITS TOPOGRAPHY 





THE city of New York is divided

for administrative purposes into five boroughs: Manhattan, the original city of

New York upon the island of Manhattan; Brooklyn, the old city of that name in

the county of Kings; Queens, in the county of the same name, adjoining

Brooklyn; Richmond, or Staten Island; The Bronx, the Borough lying north of the

Harlem River. 




November 1, 1683, the county of

Westchester was formed. Its western boundary was the Hudson River; its

northern, Dutchess (now Putnam) County; its eastern, the Connecticut Colony and

Long Island Sound; its southern, the East and Harlem rivers and Spuyten Duyvil

Creek. The Borough of The Bronx was included within the county of Westchester

until 1874 for the western part of the Borough, and until 1895 for the eastern

part. Its history is until these dates that of the county. The county also

included the islands contiguous to its shores. 




By act of the State Legislature,

March 7, 1788, all the counties were divided into townships. There were

twenty-one of these in Westchester County, following very closely the lines of

the ancient manors and patents. The section under consideration was formerly

within the towns of Yonkers, Morrisania, Eastchester, Pelham, and Westchester. 




Yonkers was a part of the

Philipsburgh Manor, sequestrated by the State in 1779, on account of the

disloyalty of its owner, Colonel Frederick Philipse. The part of the township

within the Borough was known as Lower Yonkers; and it remained a part of the

original township until June 1, 1872, when the city of Yonkers was

incorporated. At the same time, the portion of the township lying south of a

line drawn from the northwest corner of the land belonging to the Sisters of

Charity, known as St. Vincent de Paul, due east to the Bronx River, was set off

as a new township under the name of Kingsbridge. It remained a part of the

Yonkers township until December sixteenth of the same year, when the selection

of town officers was perfected. Its northern boundary was the line given above,

from the Hudson River to the Bronx; its southern, the northern line of the

ancient manor of Fordham, from the Harlem River at East 230th Street to a point

on the Bronx River between First and Second avenues, Williamsbridge, and

Spuyten Duyvil Creek; its western, the Hudson River. 




Morrisania was the most sparsely

settled section of the whole county; and why it should have been made into a

township is not clear, unless it was by reason of the influence and prominence

of its owner, Lewis Morris, the signer of the Declaration of Independence. The

new Constitutional government had gone into effect in New York in 1789, but the

site of the permanent capital of the nation was a matter of considerable

discussion. Morris believed his manor to be an ideal spot for it; hence, its

formation into a township. On October 1, 1790, the Congress in session at New

York was to determine the location of the new capital, and Morris memorialized

it in favor of Morrisania. He states: 




"that the said manor is more

advantageously situated for their [Congress's] residence than any other place

that has hitherto been proposed to them, and much better accommodated with the

necessary requisites of convenience of access, health, and security";

"that vessels from the four Eastern States may arrive at Morrisania

through the Sound, in the course of a few hours, and that ships from the

Carolinas and Georgia may perform voyages to Morrisania with much more safety

and dispatch than they can to the ports of Philadelphia and Annapolis, not

being incommoded with tedious passages of two hundred miles each up Bays and

Rivers which often consume a fortnight or three weeks — passages rendered

hazardous by rocks and shoals, and annually obstructed by ice"; "that

Morrisania is so situated that vessels may arrive from, or proceed to sea,

sometimes in six hours . . . and that this passage, from the quantity and

saltness of the water, has never been totally impeded by ice"; "that

Morrisania has always been noted for this particular [health and salubrity],

that the fever and ague is unknown, and that persons from other places,

emaciated by sickness and disease, there shortly recover and are speedily

reinforced in health and vigor"; and further, "that Morrisania is

perfectly secure from any dangers either from foreign invasion or internal

insurrection"; "that Morrisania being distant only twenty miles from

the State of Connecticut, and eight miles from the City of New York, that it

therefore can be amply protected by the hardy sons of New England on the one

side and the inhabitants of the populous City of New York on the other; that as

the chief defense of this country in future must be by its militia . . . there

are more fighting men within a sweep of thirty miles around Morrisania than

perhaps within the same distance around any other place in America, as there

are many populous places which contain large proportions of inhabitants who are

principled by religion against bearing arms, and other places which contain

negro inhabitants who not only do not fight themselves, but by keeping their

masters at home, prevent them from fighting also." 




As a real-estate broker, Morris

was not a success, and the capital went to the banks of the Potomac; while by

act of the Legislature of February 2, 1791, Morrisania ceased to be a separate

township and became a part of the township of Westchester, and later, of West

Farms; it remained so until December 7, 1855, when it again became a separate

township. Previous to 1848, there were few settlers; but the revolutions that

occurred in Europe at that time sent a stream of immigrants to the land of

liberty; and many of them settled in Morrisania, converting its fields and

farms into thriving, active villages, and giving it that Teutonic appearance of

names and occupations which it maintained for forty years afterwards, and which

has not yet wholly disappeared under the later Celtic, Italian, and Semitic

invasions. 




The bounds of the township at

both creations, 1788 and 1855, were the same as those of the ancient manor. The

northerly line, which was also the southerly line of Fordham Manor, began at

the Harlem River immediately south of the present High Bridge, and extended

east to Union Avenue between East 170th and 171st streets; its eastern boundary

was practically Union Avenue to Bungay Creek (Intervale Avenue), which it

followed to the East River; its other boundaries were the East River, Bronx

Kills, and Harlem River. 




The township of Eastchester

(1788) had for its western boundary the Bronx River; on the north, Scarsdale;

on the east, Hutchinson's River; on the south, Black Dog Brook and a line drawn

from the head of the brook on the line of 229th Street to the Bronx River. When

the city of Mount Vernon was incorporated in 1892, the township of Eastchester

was divided into two parts, entirely separated from each other by the newly

formed, intervening city. The southern piece was the smaller; and when the

question of annexation was submitted to the people in 1894, the inhabitants

voted to be taken into the city of New York. 




Pelham township was what remained

of Pelham Manor; it was triangular in form, New Rochelle being its base or

northerly line, and the two sides being the Sound and Hutchinson's River. It

also included Hunter, Twin, Hart, High, and City islands. The portion taken for

the city of New York is almost entirely within Pelham Bay Park. The part

annexed to New York was the ancient Annes Hoeck, or Pell's Neck, and Rodman's Neck,

as well as the islands mentioned above. 




The township of Westchester

(1788) included all the rest of the land now within the limits of the Borough;

the ancient manor of Fordham, the West Farms tract, and all the land between

the Hutchinson River, the Bronx River, and the Sound, with a northerly boundary

at the Eastchester line from Black Dog Brook to the Bronx River. This included

about one half the Borough. The town was further increased by the accession of

Morrisania, February 22, 1791. It remained intact until May 13, 1846, when the

township of West Farms was formed out of its territory. 




West Farms (1846) comprised all

the land west of the Bronx River as far as the Harlem River, lying south of

Yonkers, until December 7, 1855, when the township of Morrisania was once more

formed from its territory. It thus included the manors of Morrisania and

Fordham and the West Farms patent of 1663. 




The annexation of a part of

Westchester County to the city of New York was a question that arose long

before any formal action was taken by the authorities. As early as 1864, it was

proposed to unite the townships of Morrisania and West Farms under a special

city charter; but the objections of the inhabitants of West Farms defeated the

project. In 1869, one of the Tweed members of the Legislature from Mount Vernon

proposed the annexation of a large portion of the county to the city; but as

the action was taken without any reference to the wishes of the inhabitants or

their immediate representative, Senator Cauldwell, he arose in his place and

announced that, in a few days, he would introduce a bill "to annex the

city of New York to Morrisania," a piece of sarcasm which defeated the

movement at that time. Yet Senator Cauldwell was, later, one of the foremost in

advocating annexation and in bringing it about. 




In the autumn of 1872, the people

of West Farms and Morrisania came together; and the following year, the bill

referring the question of annexation to the people was enacted. Owing to

disputes among the officials, the bill provided that the streets should be

placed under the Park Department, a scheme that worked more harm than good to

the newly annexed district until the streets were put under a special

Department of Street Improvements of the Twenty-third and Twenty fourth wards,

January 1, 1891. 




On January 1, 1874, by act of the

Legislature mentioned above, the townships of Kingsbridge, West Farms, and

Morrisania became a part of the (old) city of New York, and were formed into

the Twenty-third and Twenty-fourth wards. The new wards were also spoken of as

the Annexed District; they constitute that part of the Borough lying west of

the Bronx River and comprise 12,317 acres. 




At the election of November 6,

1894, the question of the Greater New York was submitted to the inhabitants of

the localities affected, including Westchester, Eastchester, Pelham, and the

city of Mount Vernon. The result of the referendum showed good majorities for

annexation in Eastchester and Pelham, while Mount Vernon and Westchester voted

against, the former by a large majority, and the latter by a majority of one.

The adverse majority in Westchester was so small that it was ignored by the

annexationists; and July 1, 1895, the whole section east of the Bronx River

became a part of the city of New York, forming part of the Twenty-fourth Ward.

It comprises nearly 14,000 acres, making the total area taken from Westchester

County by the two annexations 26,017 acres, or about 39! square miles. 




January 1, 1898, the charter of

the Greater New York went into effect, and the whole annexed section north of

the Harlem River became officially known as the Borough of The Bronx, though

united in educational and some other official matters with the Borough of

Manhattan. 




January 1, 1902, the revised

charter of the Greater New York went into effect. It gives a certain amount of

autonomy to the different boroughs, especially in the matter of local

improvements, though many acts of the local boards are subject to the Board of

Aldermen or Board of Estimate and Apportionment, or both, when the outlay

authorized by the local board exceeds two thousand dollars. The local boards of

The Bronx are composed of the Borough president and the aldermen of the local

improvement districts. There are four such districts in the Borough; the

Twenty-second, or Morrisania; the Twenty-third, or Chester; the Twenty-fourth,

or Crotona; and the Twenty-fifth, or Van Courtlandt. 




When the two annexations took

place, the sections ceased to be parts of Westchester County and became parts

of New York County. In the matter of congressional, senate, assembly, and

judicial representation, however, portions of the Borough were at first

attached to Westchester County; though there is now separation. The Borough

constitutes the eighteenth congressional district; but on the basis of

population as shown by the last Federal Census, it is entitled to two

congressmen. There are eight aldermanic districts, and four local school

districts, each having its own board. The Borough is allowed two municipal

courts where civil cases may be tried in which the value in controversy does

not exceed two hundred and fifty dollars. There are also two police

magistrate's courts for the settlement of minor cases of crimes and

misdemeanors and for preliminary hearings in cases of felony. For police

protection, the Borough is divided into nine precincts with 756 men. For

protection from fire, there are twenty engines and nine hook and ladder trucks,

while in the Harlem River is stationed a fire tug. There are fifty public

elementary schools and the Gouverneur Morris High School on the Boston Road,

while, owing to the rapidly increasing population, new sites are being selected

and buildings erected, though not half fast enough to keep up with the growth

of school population. Most of these school buildings are modern in every

respect; and while built for utilitarian purposes, the aesthetic side has not

been neglected; and, as the sites are often on high ground, these fine examples

of school architecture tower above their neighbors and attract the attention of

the wayfarer. 




Many of the natural features of

the Borough are rapidly disappearing before the march of modern improvements;

and the authorities are filling in creeks, swamps, and lowlands, laying out and

grading streets, and establishing water mains and sewers for the immense

population of the future. In the spring of 1903, a plan of opening and grading

420 miles of streets in the district east of the Bronx River was submitted to

the Board of Estimate and approved by them on May 29, 1903. In this plan, ample

provision is made for several small parks and for a larger one at Seton's

Falls; but little or no attention is paid to the preservation of old landmarks,

except in the way of some of the more prominent of the ancient highways. 




By the Federal Census of 1900,

the Borough had a population of 200,507; and by the Census of 1910, a

population of 430,980, an increase of nearly 115 per cent., more than that of

any other borough of the city. The great increase in population and the consequent

erection of buildings to accommodate the inhabitants, with the transfers of

property and other matters of record in relation to real estate, became so

great in volume that, on April 28, 1903, a committee was appointed by the North

Side Board of Trade to bring before the State Legislature the formation of a

new county to be called Bronx County. In January following, a bill to form such

a county was introduced, but it failed to pass. It was introduced in every

subsequent Legislature, but it was defeated, so it is stated, because, if such

a county were created, Tammany and the other political machines would lose

their power in the Borough. Extraordinary meetings and agitations took place in

the autumn of 1911, with the result that an act passed by the Legislature of

1912 authorizes the formation of Bronx County, the matter to be decided by a

referendum to the voters of the Borough at the election of November, 1912. 




The construction and opening of

the subway in 1904 caused a great boom in real estate; and the operations have

run into many millions of dollars, as many farm lands and estates have been

brought into the market and have found ready purchasers for actual building. 




On January 16, 1904, the Bronx

Free Library, which had been in existence for several years, surrendered its

separate existence to the New York Library, and thus brought itself within the

scope of the Carnegie Library Fund; and, in consequence, the corner-stone of a

new building was laid on January 21, 1904, at Washington Avenue and East 176th

Street. Other branches of the New York Public Library are located in

Morrisania, Mott Haven, Highbridgeville, and Kingsbridge. 




The only regular military

organization in the Borough is the Second Battery of the State National Guard,

which prides itself on being the pioneer company of the Borough. It was

organized February 4, 1833, in the city of New York and moved to temporary

quarters on Bathgate Avenue near East 177th Street on October 25, 1902. It

occupied its new armory on Franklin Avenue and East 166th Street on June 1,

1910. The ground and building cost $57,200. The battery, which is now

officially Battery A, First Battalion, Field Artillery, N. G., N. Y., consists

of six officers and one hundred and eleven men. The battery is equipped with four

three-inch breech-loading field guns, four Colt rapid-firing guns, and four

Gatling guns. In addition, there are forty-four horses, the property of the

battery, and the necessary equipment of harness, small arms, caissons, etc. 




One of the most important factors

in the development of the Borough on its commercial and sociological sides has

been the North Side Board of Trade. This is composed of the leading business

and professional men of the Borough, and those having business or other

interests there. The society was organized March 6, 1894; and since that time

it has been untiring in its efforts to arouse a proper public spirit and pride

in the Borough and in disseminating information about it, so as to attract

manufacturing and other enterprises and a superior class of residents. That

this has been successfully done is shown in the large number of commercial

enterprises, the increase in traffic facilities, and the doubling of the

population within the last decade. On Saturday, October 28, 1911, the corner-stone

of the new North Side Board of Trade building was laid by Mayor Gaynor with

appropriate ceremonies. The building is located at Third and Lincoln avenues

and East 137th Street. When finished, it will be one of the most beautiful

buildings in the Borough. 




Two other organizations, the

Bronx Society of Arts and Sciences, founded in 1904, and the Bronx Beautiful

Society, founded in January, 1912, have been established for the development of

the Borough on its intellectual and aesthetic sides. 




Besides the Seton Hospital and

the Home for Incurables, mentioned elsewhere, there are six great hospitals

within the Borough. Fordham Hospital, under the Department of Charities, was

established in 1882 at Valentine Avenue and 188th Street, whence it removed to

the old Eden mansion at Aqueduct Avenue and 190th Street. Since May 1, 1907, it

has occupied the new building at Crotona Avenue and Southern Boulevard, not far

from the Bronx "Zoo," a location which will always be of the best, as

it is surrounded by open, public park spaces, and it will never have its air

and light cut off, nor fail to receive a supply of clear, pure air. Another

city hospital is Riverside, situated on North Brother Island, where contagious

and infectious diseases are taken care of. There are accommodations for five

hundred patients. 




Lincoln Hospital is situated at

East 141st Street and Southern Boulevard. It was originally incorporated in

1845 under the name of the Colored Home, and was located at 65th Street and

First Avenue, Manhattan, until September 7, 1898, when it was moved to its

present site into the new buildings especially erected. The name was changed to

Lincoln Hospital and Home in 1860. No color line is drawn in the hospital

service, but the training school for nurses attached to the institution is

restricted to colored women. The institution is maintained principally by

subscriptions and donations, though it also receives aid from the city. 




Lebanon Hospital, located at

Cauldwell and Westchester avenues, upon the site formerly occupied by the

Ursuline Convent, was incorporated by a number of Jewish citizens in 1890. The

present building was occupied in 1892; and there are two hundred and fifty

beds, four ambulances, and a full complement of surgeons and nurses. From its

central location in a thickly settled neighborhood, it is probably the busiest

of the Bronx hospitals, as it makes no distinction as to religion in its

services. Its name is almost invariably mispronounced, and it is called

Le-ban-on by the people of the vicinity. It is supported by subscriptions and

donations, and also by help from the city. 




St. Francis's Hospital is in

charge of the Sisters of the Poor of St. Francis, and is situated between Brook

and St. Ann's avenues and 142nd and 143rd streets. It has been located here

since 1906, and is a splendid up-to-date institution with over four hundred

beds. It treats patients of every and all creeds, colors, and nationalities;

and for its treatment of nonpaying poor, it receives pay from the city. 




St. Joseph's Hospital, under

Sisters of the same order, is situated on the block above St. Francis's; but

its doors, while open to all creeds and nationalities, are closed to all cases

except those of consumption, all stages of which are taken care of. There are

five hundred beds, over four hundred of which are free to the poor, of whom

there were 2111 treated from October 1, 1910 to September 30, 1911. The

hospital was opened here on January 1, 1889; and it is maintained by private

subscriptions and donations, though the city helps for the care of poor

patients. 




Union Hospital was started in the

spring of 1911 for the treatment of all ailments, and for general hospital

work. It occupies the Eden mansion, the former home of Fordham Hospital. It is

backed by the Episcopal Church and by a number of the leading physicians of the

Borough. 




The surface of the Borough is

such as to present all varieties of scenery; and in its wild state it must have

shown scenes of surpassing rural and sylvan beauty. In fact, even to-day, one

is pleased with the vistas of hills and streams in the more sparsely settled

parts. 




The elevated portions of the

Borough are continuations of the ranges of hills of Westchester County and,

speaking generally, run north and south, parallel to the Hudson. The valleys

between are occupied by streams flowing to the southward and are comparatively

level, so that they became the way of the earlier roads, and later, of the

railroads. These elevations rise to a height of two hundred feet in many

places, and do not fall below a hundred, except in the slopes to the valleys.

The westernmost ridge extends from Yonkers to Spuyten Duyvil Creek through

Mount St. Vincent, Riverdale, and Hudson Park. In Riverdale is the highest

elevation in the Borough, 282 feet. This ridge has a sharp descent to the

Hudson, and presents a bold frontage when viewed from that stream. The streams

emptying into the Hudson are few and short; the longest being Dogwood Brook

near West 247th Street. On the east, the slope is almost equally abrupt to the

valley of Tippett's Brook. The lower part of this valley is flat, meadow land,

reaching, in places, over half a mile in width. At its southern end is a rocky

islet in this sea of meadow, upon which the principal part of the former

village of Kingsbridge is situated; in ancient times, it was the core of the

island of Paparinemo, or Paparinemin. 




The second ridge extends from the

Yonkers line to Central Bridge, and is the dividing line between Tippett's

Brook and the Harlem River on the west and the Bronx River, Cromwell's Creek,

and Mill Brook on the east. It presents a bold front to the Harlem River all

the way from Kingsbridge to Central Bridge. Its southern terminus is known as

Devoe's Point, after one of the earlier proprietors, a descendant of the

original patentee, Daniel Turneur. This ridge is known as the Fordham Ridge;

its northern portion is called Woodlawn Heights. Several brooks find their way

down the easterly slope into the Bronx River. The valley between Fordham Ridge

and the ridge on the easterly side of the Bronx valley is wide at its southern

part, allowing of several minor ridges forming the valley of Mill Brook. 




The ridge forming the eastern

side of the Bronx valley has a considerable elevation at Wakefield and

Williamsbridge, but it falls away gradually toward the shores of the East River

and the Sound, so that they present in general the appearance of low, salt

meadows, which, at unusual high tides, are awash. Castle Hill Neck below

Unionport is an elevation of sixty feet, separating Pugsley's and Westchester

creeks. To the eastward of Westchester Creek is Throgg's Neck, which does not

rise higher than fifty feet. Before the Westchester meadows were filled in,

Eastchester Bay, the Sound, and Westchester Creek virtually used to make an

island of Throgg's Neck at high tides. 




Tippett's Brook has its rise near

Valentine's Hill in Yonkers and empties into Spuyten Duyvil Creek, almost

equally dividing the former township of Kingsbridge. Its Indian name was

Mosholu. Just below High Bridge, there was formerly a small stream emptying into

the Harlem River, which constituted the northern boundary of Turneur's patent;

it has disappeared under modern improvements. A considerable extent of wet

meadow lines the shore of the Harlem River below the Fordham Ridge. Below High

Bridge, this meadow formerly constituted Crab, or "Crabbe, " Island

of the ancient records. Cromwell's Creek had its origin about East 178th Street

and Jerome Avenue and emptied into the Harlem River south of Central Bridge,

but the stream has been filled in. Jerome Avenue follows the valley of the old

stream for a considerable distance. 




Mill Brook was an important

watercourse in former days, and it about equally divided the ancient manor of

Morrisania. It had its rise near East 170th Street, between Claremont and

Crotona parks, and emptied into the East River near the manor-house. In the

improvements in the decade before 1900, the stream disappeared within a great

sewer under Brook Avenue, which follows approximately the bed of the old

stream. 




Bungay Creek was composed of two branches

rising in Crotona Park and uniting at East 170th Street, whence it flowed into

the East River above Port Morris. Intervale Avenue follows very closely the

course of the old stream. From its crossing at Westchester Avenue to the river,

it formed the boundary between the manor of Morrisania and the West Farms

patent of Richardson and Jessup. 




The next stream to the eastward

is the longest and most important of all — the Bronx, — which has given its

name to the Borough. It has its origin in the distant hills of North Castle and

flows into the East River after a course of more than thirty miles. Its Indian

name was Aquahung, "a high bluff or bank"; but it derives its present

name from the first white owner of the soil, Jonas Bronk. It is navigable for small

vessels for about three miles from its mouth. It was a very important stream

during the Revolution as, during the Westchester campaign of 1776, it

constituted a barrier between the armies of Washington and Howe. There is a

tradition that Admiral Lord Howe impressed some Americans familiar with the

locality to pilot his ships up the Bronx in order to bombard Washington out of

his entrenched camps on the west of the stream. We can imagine a 74-gun

ship-of-the-line attempting to sail up the beautiful, romantic, but shallow

stream! 




In the year 1798, a scourge of

yellow fever visited the city of New York, and, after its subsidence, the

question was agitated of furnishing the inhabitants with an abundant supply of

pure, fresh water. The Bronx seemed to the authorities to have been provided by

nature for the purpose, and an engineer was sent to survey it and plan for its

use; but upon his report that the project would cost the city $1,000,000, the

corporation withdrew on account of the expense. Aaron Burr, who was at this

time, 1799, forming his Manhattan Company, also probably helped them to an

adverse decision by holding out the hope of supplying the city with water under

the charter of his company. Until the Croton River was selected as the source

of New York's water supply, the Bronx was the favorite with the authorities and

engineers, commending itself on account of the purity of its waters, its

nearness to the city, the feasibility of damming its waters at Williamsbridge,

and, especially, on the score of economy. Its waters were impounded for the use

of the Annexed District in 1888 by building a dam at Kensico, above White

Plains. 




The Bronx of to-day still retains

many of the beauties that inspired the pen of Drake; but, alas! its waters are

no longer pure and crystalline. What is to be done with it is a question that

has been discussed between the engineers of New York and those of Westchester

County; but when we see the river converted into a lake after a spring thaw or

a heavy rain, we can believe the engineers have a problem to solve much more

difficult than that of the Mill Brook and other smaller streams. The

Legislature of 1907 directed the Governor to appoint a commission to lay out a

parkway along the entire length of the river from Kensico to West Farms and to

condemn land for the same. The commission was appointed in July, 1907. If the

proposed plans are carried out, about 125 acres will be taken in the Borough

and about 900 in Westchester County, and a reservation will be formed varying

from 300 to 1000 feet on both sides of the stream. This will be made into a

public park and drive. The primary object of the park is to prevent further

pollution of the river. A series of dams will also be constructed, with the

purpose of making the stream navigable for small boats of all kinds throughout

its whole length. 




The land near the mouth of the

Bronx and beyond is low, salt meadow, interspersed by small tidal streams. The

most important of these is Wilkins's, or Pugsley's, Creek, which forms the

landward boundary of Cornell's Neck. Between this creek and Westchester Creek

is Castle Hill Neck, so called because the Weckquaesgeek Indians had a large

castle, or stockade, on the high land between the creeks. On the south side of

Throgg's Neck is Baxter's Creek, and on the north side, Weir Creek. Throgg's

Neck on the Borough side, and Willett's Point on the Long Island, or Queen's

Borough, side are the separating points between the East River and the Sound. 




Eastchester Bay is an estuary

between Throgg's Neck on the south and City Island and Rodman's Neck on the

north. At its head, Eastchester Creek, or Hutchinson's River, empties after its

course of eight miles from Scarsdale. The Indian name of the stream was

Aqueannoncke, or Aqueanounckc, a variant of Aquahung. Its lower portion is a

tidal stream, whose depth and course have been changed by the Federal

Government, so that it is navigable to the city line. Black Dog Brook, the

former Eastchester boundary line, flows into Eastchester Creek at Baychester,

while a short distance above is Rattlesnake Brook, whose mouth is called Mill

Creek, from the old tide mill (Reid's) which was located there. Between

Rodman's Neck and Hunter Island is Pelham Bay. 




The islands in the Borough

included Paparinemo and Crab, both of which have disappeared. Lying in the East

River, a short distance above Port Morris, are North and South Brother islands,

called by the Dutch Gesellen. The former has a light-house on it and is used by

the city government for hospital cases of infectious and contagious diseases.

Riker's Island is much larger and lies toward the mouth of Flushing Bay, Long

Island. This island, as well as several of the others, was used during the

Civil War for the encampment and drilling of recruits, and also for hospital

purposes. It was bought by the city in 1884, and for some time was used as a

dumping ground for the refuse of the city, much to the disgust of the

inhabitants of the Borough who found it almost impossible to breathe when the

wind blew from the water. The Board of Health finally stopped the nuisance,

which was endangering the health of the people. The island is still used for

city refuse, but incineration plants have been installed and no odor is

perceptible except when close to the island. Riker's Island originally

contained eighty-seven acres, but extensive crib work has been constructed and

the work of filling in continued, so that when completed the island will

contain four hundred acres to be used for municipal purposes. The work has been

done by the prisoners from Blackwell's Island; and the first batch of

prisoners, 150 in number, was transferred to the island June 21, 1903. All the

work-house prisoners have since been transferred. A lighthouse on Riker's

Island helps to mark the navigation of the East River. 




Between Throgg's Neck and Long

Island are several rocky islets visible at low tide, which are called the

"Steppingstones"; on one of them is a light-house. 




City Island, comprising 230

acres, lies off Rodman's Neck on the northerly side of Eastchester Bay, and is

a long, narrow strip only a few feet above the waters of the Sound. Hart

Island, of eighty-five acres, lies to the eastward of City Island. In 1774,

Oliver De Lancey of West Farms came into possession of it. It was then called

"Spectacle" Island, or "Little Minnefords. " Later, it

passed into the possession of the Haights and Rodmans, then into the hands of

John Hunter, and finally into the hands of the city of New York, which

maintains there a potter's field, a hospital for convalescents, and a work-house

under the Department of Charities. High Island lies north of City Island, and

in the vicinity of these larger islands are several rocky islets called Rat

Island, the Chimney Sweeps, and the Blauzes. Bolton says that this section was

formerly the resort of immense numbers of wild ducks, as many as one thousand

being shot in six hours. To-day, when there is bad weather in the Sound, many

vessels of all kinds seek refuge under the lee of the islands until the weather

improves and they can resume their interrupted voyages. Goose Island is a small

island lying in the mouth of Eastchester Creek. Hunter and Twin islands will be

considered under the chapter on Parks. 




The southern extremity of the

Riverdale Ridge is called Spuyten Duyvil Neck. The fourth proprietor was George

Tibbett, or Tippett, whose house was near the end of the point; in consequence,

the neck was known in ancient times as Tippett's Neck, or Tibbett's Hill. The

neck passed into the hands of the Berriens by the marriage of one of them with

Dorcas, the great-great-granddaughter of the original Tippett; and after the

Revolution and until the present, the promontory has been known as Berrien's

Neck. The Manhattan tribe of Indians had an important village and castle called

Nipnichsen, "a small pond or watering-place," upon the point, to

which, and to the section adjoining, they applied the name of Shorackkappock,

or Shorakapkock, which means "as far as the sitting-down place," a

reference, perhaps, to the fact that the traveler had to sit down and wait for

the tide to fall at the wading-place across the creek. 




Port Morris is situated upon a

neck of land jutting into the East River. It was originally called Stony Point,

or, since it was low land sometimes surrounded by water at high tide, Stony

Island. This section has been filled in by the city, sewers built, and streets

laid out; and several large factories have been erected by private parties. It

was formerly a part of the manor of Morrisania; and the Morrises counted on

making it a rival to New York on account of the depth of water and the

convenience of access for large vessels, the Great Eastern having actually

anchored off the point. In fact, Port Morris was for several years a regular

port of entry with its own custom-house. 




The idea of making it an

important port has not been abandoned, and numerous plans have been advanced

from time to time. One of these is the subject of a pamphlet entitled The

World's Great Highway. The scheme will be understood from the following, taken

from the inside cover: 


















 




"The World's Great

Continental Route! 




IN THIRTEEN DAYS EASILY, 




From Europe — by Port Morris — to

San Francisco. 




Time and Money saved! Comfort

increased! 




From San Francisco — by Port

Morris — to Europe, 




EASILY IN THIRTEEN DAYS, 




And can be done in twelve and a

half Days. 




Two hours at Port Morris. " 




This plan is fathered by Charles

Stoughton under date of November 4, 1877. 




Adjoining Port Morris on the

east, is Oak Point, formerly called Leggett's Point, from a family of the name

who owned it from pre-Revolutionary days. Gabriel Leggett, the founder of the

family, married into the Richardson family and thus came into possession of

this part of the West Farms tract. 




The neck to the west of the Bronx

River is called Hunt's Point, after the proprietor of 1688. It really consists

of two points, the more westerly one being called Barretto's Point, after

Francis Barretto, a wealthy New York merchant who settled here about 1840. The

Indian name of Hunt's Point was Quinnahung, which means "a long, high

place." 




The neck between the Bronx River

and Wilkins's Creek is known as Cornell's Neck, after the proprietor of 1646.

Its extremity is called Clason's Point, after a later owner. Its Indian name

was Snakapins, probably a personal name, or, perhaps, a corruption of Sagapin,

a ground nut, or of Chincapin, the dwarf chestnut. Castle Hill Neck is the next

point to the eastward. On the eastern side of Westchester Creek is Ferris Neck,

so called after the family who owned it; its extremity is called "Old

Ferry Point," from the ferry that connected it with Whitestone, Long

Island, from ancient times. Throgg's Neck is the long, narrow point upon which

Fort Schuyler is situated. It gets its name from the original proprietor of

1643, John Throgmorton, or Throckmorton. Upon its northerly side is Locust

Point, or Island. 




Between the Sound on the north

and Eastchester Bay on the south is the largest of all the necks in the

Borough. From its first white inhabitant, the famous Anne Hutchinson, it was

called by the Dutch Annes Hoeck (i.e., Ann's Neck). Later, when Thomas Pell

became proprietor of this whole section, the neck was called Pell's Neck, or Point;

and after the formation of the manor, Pelham Neck. A later manor-lord sold to

Samuel Rodman the end of the neck opposite City Island, and hence we have the

name by which it is known to-day, Rodman's Neck. 


















 





CHAPTER II. UNDER THE DUTCH 





IN the years 1497 and 1498, the

two Venetians, John and Sebastian Cabot, father and son, visited the shores of

North America by authority of the King of England, Henry VII. It was during the

voyage of Sebastian in 1498, that the explorations were carried as far south as

the Capes of the Chesapeake. It is almost certain that he entered the lower bay

of New York harbor. In the year 1524, Verrazano, a Florentine under the French

flag, explored the coast of North America between thirty and fifty degrees

north latitude and took possession of it in the name of the French king. He

undoubtedly entered the bay of New York. In the following year, 1525, Estevan

Gomez, a Portuguese navigator under the Spanish flag, also entered the estuary

of the Hudson, which he named Rio San Antonio. 




In 1609, Henry Hudson sailed from

Holland under the auspices of the United Netherlands Trading Company; and on

the third of September entered the harbor of New York. He reached the site of

Albany, as far as the river was navigable, and then began his return voyage

down the river, leaving it forever on the third of October. In his report to

the Company from Dartmouth, England, where he wintered on his return to Europe,

he named the river Mauritius, in honor of Prince Maurice of Orange. 




The Dutch soon took advantage of

Hudson's discovery; and for nearly fifteen years a succession of Dutch vessels

under skillful and active masters like Block, May, Christiansen, and De Witt

visited the river and traded with the Indians, returning to Holland with furs

and peltry. Trading-posts were established at Castle Island below Albany and on

Manhattan Island; the former was the more important, being near the heart of

the fur country and among friendly Indians. But the traders did not stay;

having laden their ships, they returned to Holland. 




The first lot of agricultural

colonists settled at Fort Orange, later Albany, in the first half of May, 1624,

The settlement of Manhattan Island did not take place until the spring of 1626;

though for many years before that date the island had been occupied, as

indicated, as a trading-post by the Dutch, and probably by the French. In the

year 1628, according to Wassenaer, the total white population of New Amsterdam

numbered two hundred and seventy souls. 




The land north of the Harlem River

was occupied near the Hudson by the Manhattans and by the Weckquaesgeeks;

eastward of them were the Siwanoys as far as Stamford in Connecticut — all

branches of the Mohegans. This territory was usually spoken of as the mainland.






On August 3, 1639, there was

conveyed by the Indian sachems, Tequeemet, Rechgawac, and Pachimiens, to the

West India Company, through Secretary Cornelis Van Tienhoven, a tract of land,

"called Keskeskeck, stretching lengthwise along the Kil which runs behind

the island of Manhattan, mostly east and west, and beginning at the head of

said Kil and running to opposite of the high hill by the flat, namely by the

Great Kil, with all right, titles, etc., etc." The "Kil behind the

island of Manhattan" is the Harlem River; the "Great Kil" is the

Hudson; and "the high hill by the flat" is, probably, the hill at the

north end of the island; the "flat" refers to the plains of Harlem.

The boundaries of this tract, especially to the northward, are rather indefinite;

but the tract later became the lower portion of Westchester County, and later

still, the Borough. The transfer was made "in consideration of a certain

lot of merchandise," which the sachems acknowledged to have received. 




The prevailing idea is that the

European colonists, with the exception of Penn, simply took the lands from the

Indians and occupied them. On the contrary, the general custom was to purchase

the land from the Indians; and this was the invariable rule in Dutch New

Netherland and English New York. In searching titles to-day in the older

States, the basis will always be found in the Indian title. To our modern

notions, the recompense to the Indians seems inadequate; but to a people whose

idea of value was based upon belts of wampum made of shells, the iron pots, blankets,

trinkets, and what not, were probably of inestimable value. At the same time,

Dutch thrift is proverbial; and they made good bargains. 




The flats of Haerlem had already

been occupied as bouweries, or farms, by the Dutch settlers, and it is probable

that some of the boers, or farmers, crossed the river and occupied the new land

"upon the Maine." In the year 1640, a second purchase was made of the

lands to the eastward of Keskeskeck; and in 1641, Jonas Bronk, or Brunk, made a

purchase of five hundred acres of land between the Harlem and Aquahung rivers.

The latter soon lost its Indian name and became known after the proprietor as

Bronk's River; to-day, the Bronx, a natural derivative from

"Bronk's," which has given its name to the Borough. 




Bronk, Bronck, or Brunk was a

Dane, or Swede, who had taken up his residence in Amsterdam, Holland, where he

married Antonia Slagboom. Hearing of the fertility of the soil of Nieuw

Nederlandt, and filled with the spirit of adventure which permeated all classes

during that age, he embarked with his family, servants, cattle, and other

property and arrived in New Amsterdam in July, 1639. That the Company had in

view the Keskeskeck purchase of August 3, 1639, and that Bronk had determined

to avail himself of the newly to be acquired land are shown by records in

Albany among the ancient archives of the State, One of them is a lease made on

July 21, 1639, by Jonas Bronck to Peter Andriessen and Lourent Dayts, by which

the former agrees to "show" to the lessees a certain lot, 




"in which lot aforesaid they

may cultivate tobacco and maize, upon the express condition that they shall

clear and cultivate every two years a fresh spot for the raising their tobacco

and maize, and then the spot which they cultivated before shall return again to

Mr. Bronck aforesaid, to dispose of according to pleasure." 




They had the use of each field

they cleared for three years, but at the end of that time it became once more

at the disposal of the proprietor. The lease was made by Secretary Van Tienhoven.

It was a case of what we should call to-day "working on shares," by

which the owner of the land gradually got it cleared without expense to

himself, while the lessees were entitled to the usufruct. On the fifteenth of

August of the same year, Bronk also leased land on similar terms to Cornelius

Jacobsen Stoll and John Jacobsen. Bronk bought his land from two Indian

sachems, Ranaque and Tackamuck. He erected a stone house covered with tiles,

barns, barracks, and a tobacco house; and, being of a religious nature, named

his house Emmans. His house was situated not far from the present Harlem River

station of the New York, New Haven, and Hartford Railroad, at Lincoln Avenue

and East 132nd Street. 




He had hardly established himself

at Emmaus before an Indian war broke out, which lasted with intervals for three

years, during which the Weckquaesgeeks destroyed all the farms and bouweries in

that section. The war was brought about by Governor Kieft, who demanded from

his tribe the surrender of an Indian murderer who had killed at Harlem a

harmless Dutchman named Smits. Notwithstanding the adverse opinions of his

twelve councilors, William the Testy forced the war with most disastrous

effects to the colony. A treaty was made with the Indians at Bronk's house in

1642; but the Indians again began their depredations and continued them until

their power was completely broken and five hundred of them slain at Mehanus by

Captain John Underhill, in 1645. 




In the year 1643, Jonas Bronk,

the first recorded white settler of Westchester County, died; and his estate

was administered by friends in Harlem, Dominie Everardus Bogardus (the husband

of the famous Annetje Jans) and Jochim Petersen Keyser. From the inventory of

the estate, we must believe that Heer Bronk was a gentleman of education,

culture, and refinement; for there appear books, silver table service, linen

napkins, and "six linen shirts." The books were chiefly of a

religious or theological, character, polemical discussions so dear to the

reader and writer of that day, and were in several languages; so that Heer

Bronk must have been something of a linguist. His son Peter afterwards settled

near Albany, in whose neighborhood, so it is said, his descendants are to this

day. The widow married Arendt Van Corlaer, sheriff of Rensselaerswyck, who sold

" Brouncksland " to Jacob Jans Stoll. After passing through various

hands, it came into possession of Samuel Edsall about 16681670, who sold it in

1670 to Richard and Lewis Morris, merchants of Barbados. Captain Richard Morris

was already located in New York and bought the land and took possession of it

in behalf of his brother, Colonel Lewis Morris, as well as for himself. 




The bounds of

"Brouncksland" are hard to determine. The northern line probably did

not extend beyond 150th Street. To the east, the land extended to Bungay Creek;

and to the south, to the Harlem River and Bronx Kills. The site of Bronk's

house became that of Colonel Lewis Morris, and later, of the manor-house. 




The next settler within the

Borough was Mrs. Anne Hutchinson, who had come from England to Boston in 1634.

Here her peculiar religious notions and outspoken criticisms rendered her

obnoxious to the theocratic authorities of that colony so that she was banished

from it shortly after Roger Williams had suffered a like fate from Salem. She

went to Williams's new settlement at Rhode Island and founded Portsmouth and

Newport; but not finding Rhode Island to her liking, she again migrated with

her husband, family, and belongings to the Dutch colony of New Netherland, and

settled, in 1643, in what is known as Pelham Neck. The Dutch called the neck

after her, "Annes Hoeck, " or Ann's Neck; the stream near which her

house stood was called Hutchinson's River, a name that it still bears. In the

Indian war which broke out again after the signing of the treaty at Bronk's

house, the savages made a descent upon her farm and wiped it out of existence,

at the same time killing her and all her family and servants except a

granddaughter, who was carried into captivity, but who was afterwards restored;

her two years' captivity among the savages had converted her into one. 




In September, 1642, John

Throckmorton, or Throgmorton, with thirty-five families applied to the Dutch

authorities for permission to occupy the Vriedelandt, or "land of

peace," as it was called by the Dutch, on the shore of the Sound. This

permission having been granted, October, 1642, the colonists settled on the

long neck lying south of Eastchester Bay, which, after the leader of the

colonists, was called Throgmorton's Neck, contracted into Throgg's Neck, and

sometimes Frog's Neck. Governor Kieft gave them a patent, or grond brief, for

the land in July, 1643. The colony was composed of Quakers and other

malcontents from the New England colonies, who found the religious intolerance

of those colonies unbearable, and so sought freedom among the Dutch. Roger Williams,

the founder of Rhode Island, was a personal friend of Throckmorton; and it is

known he was in New Amsterdam in the winter of 1642-1643, sailing from New

Amsterdam for Europe, whence he returned later with the famous charter for his

colonies in Rhode Island. It is more than likely that he visited Throgg's Neck,

as he was deeply interested in the success of his friend Throckmorton and his

colony in the Vriedelandt. The colony thrived; but the Indian raiders who had

destroyed the Hutchinson family attacked the Vriedelandt colony and destroyed

it. Eighteen persons were massacred; but a passing boat fortunately landed at

the neck at the time of the attack, and the remainder of the settlers escaped

in it. Before the war ended, the whole section north of the Harlem River, as

well as Long Island, became a wilderness; as those who escaped the tomahawk of

the savage sought safety in the fort at New Amsterdam. 




One of Throckmorton's companions

at the Vriedelandt colony was Thomas Cornell, a native of Essex in England, who

escaped at the time of the Indian massacre. On July 26, 1646, he was granted by

the Dutch authorities a patent to the land lying between "Brunk's

Kill" and the creek, now called Pugsley's, which enters the mouth of

Westchester Creek. The Indian name of the neck was Snakapins; but when Cornell

settled on the land it took his name. He erected buildings and cultivated the

land until again forced to vacate by Indian aggressions. After his two

experiences, Cornell seems to have given up hope of establishing himself in New

Netherland and returned to Portsmouth, Rhode Island, where he is recorded as

being on a coroner's jury in 1653, and as a commissioner of the town in 1654.

His daughter, who married Thomas Willett, September 1, 1643, inherited the neck,

and it remained with her descendants for over a century and a half. 




Throckmorton did not return to

his colony after the catastrophe which had overtaken it, but settled in New

Jersey. On April 29, 1652, he petitioned Governor Stuyvesant for permission to

dispose of the land; and in the following October he sold it to Augustine

Hermans. Shortly afterwards, Hermans sold fifty morgens of the land to Thomas

Hunt, who, after the English occupation, received from Governor Nicolls a

confirmatory grant, or patent, under date of December 4, 1667. 




In order to encourage the

settlement of New Netherland, the West India Company offered in 1629 great

tracts of land to anyone who would establish a colony of fifty persons above

the age of fifteen years. If on a river, the domain was to extend sixteen miles

on one bank, or eight miles on each bank, and to run back as far "as the

situation of the occupiers will admit." The owner of the land was styled

"patroon," and he was almost absolute ruler of whatever colony he

might plant. He bound himself, however: (i) to transplant the fifty settlers to

New Amsterdam at his own expense; (2) to provide each of them with a farm

stocked with horses, cattle, and farming tools, and charge a low rent; (3) to

employ a schoolmaster and minister of the Gospel. In return, the colonist bound

himself: (1) to stay and cultivate the patroon's land for ten years; (2) to

bring his grain to the patroon's mill and pay for grinding; (3) to use no cloth

not made in Holland; (4) to sell no grain or produce till the patroon had a

chance to buy it. 




This generous offer of the

Company found many takers, and during the Dutch period, over six hundred

patents were granted. The greatest of all the patroons was Kilian Van

Rensselaer, a diamond polisher and director of the Company, who took up over

seven hundred thousand acres of land in the valleys of the Hudson and the

Mohawk. He selected as sheriff of his patroonship, de Jonkheer Adrien Van der

Donck, who came to Rensselaerswyck in 1641. Van der Donck was a native of

Breda, a graduate of the University of Leyden, and a lawyer by profession, the

first to come to New Netherland. He served for five years with Van Rensselaer,

with whom he had many differences, and who accused him of dishonorable

dealings. 




On October 22, 1645, Van der

Donck married Mary, the daughter of the Reverend Francis Doughty of Long

Island; and soon afterwards, disgusted with his experience with Van Rensselaer,

he withdrew from Beverwyck and settled in New Amsterdam. He desired to become a

patroon himself; and being a man of culture and education, as well as of means,

he had little trouble in coming to terms with the Company, especially as they

were under obligations to him for services rendered, as well as for money

loaned. He was bound, however, to obtain deeds from the Indians for any lands

taken from them which had not already been purchased by the Company. 




The tract selected by Van der

Donck extended north about eight miles from the mouth of Spuyten Duyvil Creek

along the east bank of the Hudson, thence easterly to the Bronx River, which

was the eastern boundary; the southern boundary ran from the eastern entrance

of Spuyten Duyvil Creek east to the Bronx River; the southern boundary was

Spuyten Duyvil Creek. The boundaries were about the same as those of the

township of Yonkers as formed by the Legislature of 1788. The tract was called

"Nepperhaem" in the deed; but was known popularly as "Colen

Donck" (Donck's Colony), and sometimes as "De Jonkheer's, "

which latter by natural corruption became Yonkers, the "J" in Dutch

being pronounced "Y." 




Van der Donck was attracted to

this section by the fertility of the soil, its nearness to the fort at New

Amsterdam and by the fact that there was a good running stream, the Nepperhan,

which could be easily dammed so as to furnish power for the mills to be erected

along its banks. As a result of these mills, the stream was called De Zaag Kill

or "Saw Creek," or, as known in Yonkers to-day, the Sawmill River.

The dams remained until 1892, when they were removed for sanitary reasons. 




The almost absolute powers given

to the patroons brought them to believe they were equal to, or independent of,

the Company's representatives. Hence, constant disputes arose between them and

the governor, he trying to curtail the powers of these landed gentry, and they defying

his authority to interfere with their property and business. The despotic

Stuyvesant finally gave way and a Council of Nine was formed in 1649, of which

Van der Donck was a member. He returned to Holland as the agent of those

opposed to the governor; and the fact that he had been imprisoned by Stuyvesant

for contumacious conduct gave additional weight to his feeling against the

governor. Stuyvesant's friends in Holland were too strong for Van der Donck,

however, and he became an object of suspicion to the authorities, who kept him

under surveillance. Upon his attempting to return to the colony he was stopped,

even after his family and property were aboard the vessel. His detention lasted

until 1653. He wrote a history of New Netherland, but the part relating to the

government was suppressed. In 1652, the University of Leyden conferred upon him

the degree of " Doctor of Civil and Canon Law"; and the same year he

received his patent for his patroonship from the States-General itself, the

highest authority in Holland; the grant had been made in 1646. The delay of six

years may have been caused either by his strenuous remonstrances against the

governor, by which Van der Donck became persona non grata, or by some

difficulty in obtaining deeds from the Weckquaesgeeks and Manhattans, who had

several villages on his tract. 




Van der Donck came back to New

Amsterdam in 1653, having first requested permission from the Company to

practice his profession as a lawyer; but so distrustful were they of his

ability to make trouble that they refused, except that "he might give his

opinion if asked." He once more returned to Holland, and then came back to

New Amsterdam, where he died in 1655. 




He probably never lived upon his

land; though that he intended to do so is shown by his purchase from the

Indians of a tract of flat land for that indispensable adjunct to every

Dutchman's comfort and peace of mind, a garden. The tract, called "Van der

Donck's Planting Ground," lies in the parade ground in Van Cortlandt Park,

west of Tippett's Brook and the lake. This was also the site probably selected

for his house. In accordance with the provisions of his grant, he established

colonists upon his land, who, in view of the Indian war of Kieft's

administration, cultivated friendly relations with the red men, who still

maintained their villages at Spuyten Duyvil and at the mouth of the Sawmill

River, at both of which places many Indian relics have been found. He also

established a saw-mill on the Nepperhan in 1649; but his death in 1655 frustrated

any plans he had made for the development of his land. 




As to his family, we have nothing

trustworthy. His wife, Mary Doughty, may have built upon and cultivated the

land and received some income from it. If he had children, their records have

disappeared, though it is said there were Van der Doncks on Long Island, but

whether direct or collateral descendants is not known. His widow married Hugh

O'Neale of Patuxent, Maryland, before 1666, and she went there to live in 1671.

We shall come across her again when we take up the English period. 




In 1654-55, some New Englanders,

probably carrying out the claim of Connecticut to the south, settled in the

Vriedelandt near Westchester Creek without permission of Governor Stuyvesant.

Such an act would be sure to arouse Peter the Headstrong, and we find that on

April 19, 1655, a writ of ejectment was issued against " Thomas Pel and

other trespassers. " On the twenty-second, Claes Van Elslant, the

messenger of the Dutch court, accompanied by Albert the Trumpeter, served the

writ. Notwithstanding that he was threatened by armed men, Van Elslant jumped

bravely ashore, and though at once made prisoner, did his duty and read the

protest, afterwards handing it to the leader of the trespassers, who said: 




" I cannot understand Dutch;

why did not the Fiscal send it in English? If you send it in English, then I

shall send an answer in writing. But it 's no matter; we expect the ships from

Holland and England which are to bring the settlement of the boundary. . . .

Whether we are to dwell here under the States or Parliament time wall tell;

furthermore, we abide here under the States of England. ... If we had a sup of

wine we should offer you some; but we have not any. " 




Then they all fired their guns

into the air by way of a salute. Van Elslant tried to see all he could of their

houses, but they kept both the Dutchmen closely guarded and finally permitted

them to return to New Amsterdam. 




Then, indeed, were Stuyvesant and

his council wrathy at the treatment meted out to their messengers; though it

was not until the sixth of the following March that everything was ready for

the expedition. Captain de Connick and Captain-lieutenant Nuton represented the

military arm, and Fiscal Van Tienhoven, the civil arm of the government. They

started with a body of men for Westchester, or Oostdorp, as it was called by

the Dutch, with orders to fall upon it by night, force the trespassers to

withdraw with their cattle and property and to destroy the houses. 




The expedition reached Oostdorp

on the fourteenth of March and found the settlers under arms ready to receive

it. The leader of the trespassers was named Wheeler; and the whole colony, if

we are to believe the worthy Secretary Van Tienhoven, was composed of

fugitives, vagabonds, and thieves, who had been driven out of New England on

account of their misdoings. They refused to leave, saying the land belonged to

them. They were then disarmed, and twenty-three of them were taken prisoners to

New Amsterdam in a vessel called de Waagh (the Scales). Only a few men, with

the women and children, were left to take care of the goods. The pleadings of

the wives of the prisoners were effective with the governor and council, and so

the prisoners were released, after being required to pay the expenses of the

expedition (thrifty Dutch!) and promising under oath to vacate the colony

within six weeks and not to return without consent of the Dutch authorities. 




The Englishmen then drew up a

very humble petition to the Dutch authorities, praying that they might be

permitted to remain at Westchester; and since the Dutch claimed jurisdiction

over the land, they stated they were willing to acknowledge that authority and

give true and humble allegiance to the same so long as they remained, provided

they be permitted to choose their own officers for the management of their town

affairs. The governor and council, having thus established the claim of the

West India Company to the Vriedelandt, graciously granted the petition the day

it was made, March sixteenth. They then returned to Westchester and organized

their town government, electing Lieutenant Thomas Wheeler as their magistrate,

whose election was confirmed by the governor; but several of the worst

characters were required to give bail for their good conduct or leave the

colony. This was the pledge that was signed later by the usurping English: 




"This first Jannaury A.

1657; in east towne 




in the N. Netherlands. 




Wee whose hands are vnder writen

do promes to oune the gouernor of the manatas as our gouernor and obay all his

magastrates and laws that ar mad acordin to god so long as we hue in his Juri

diction. " 




One

of the primary causes of Stuyvesant's action against the Oostdorp colonists lay

in the fact that, in 1655, an Indian war broke out, and that the New Englanders

were suspected of being the instigators, or, at least, in a conspiracy with the

Indians to injure the Dutch and to deprive them of their land. In addition,

they were in communication with the Connecticut colony and gave Stuyvesant so

much trouble that the Directors ordered their removal. Later, in 1664, Van

Couwenhoven reported that an Indian sachem came to his house and stated that

the Oostdorp settlers had promised to assist the Esopus and Wappinger Indians

in an insurrection against the Dutch. The English were to drive the Dutch out

of Long Island and New Amsterdam and wanted the Indians to assist. The latter

were willing and promised the English land at Esopus, if successful; but, upon

visiting Westchester for final arrangements, their sachems were told that the

English sachem (probably Wheeler) had entered into an arrangement with

Stuyvesant for a year, and that no war could be started at present. The Indians

went away disgusted, saying: " It is better to be at peace with the Dutch;

the English are only fooling us." 




The insubordinate settlers sent a

complaint and petition to the New England authorities in August, 1664, in which

they recited their tribulations of 1656. They recounted the hardships they had

endured in the hold of a vessel and in the dungeons of the Manhattoes, and all

because they had resisted the Dutch claim to their land. They also stated that,

upon their release, some of their number had been driven away and the rest

enslaved. But before that petition could be acted upon, Stuyvesant was rid of

his unruly settlers and they of him; for the following month, Colonel Nicolls

appeared off New Amsterdam and the whole colony became the property of James,

Duke of York and Albany. 




In Chapter VII. of Irving's

Knickerbockers History of New York is an interesting and amusing account of the

habits and customs of the "Yanokies, " who trespassed over the border

of the Dutch colony and occupied, or squatted upon, the Dutch land. 




One of these "moss-troopers,

" as Irving elsewhere calls the New England land-grabbers, was Thomas Pell

of Onckway, or Fairfield, in Connecticut. He had taken part in the Civil War in

England on the side of the Parliament, but, before the Restoration, moved to

France and then to America. According to his own statement, he purchased in

1654 from the Indians, "for a valuable consideration," title to the

lands lying eastward of the Aqueanouncke, or Hutchinson's River; though we

shall see later that he claimed to the Bronx and East rivers. This purchase,

according to Bolton, was within the bounds of the Dutch purchase of 1640, to

the eastward of Keskeskeck. The purchase included Minneford's Island, Hunter's

Island, and Hart Island. This purchase afterwards became the Manor of Pelham

(see Chapter III.). The southern portion, including the islands, is now a part

of the Borough. Pell's purchase gave great uneasiness to the Dutch. 




There were constant and

continuous bickerings between the New Englanders and the Dutch concerning the

boundary line between their respective colonies. Adrien Block had explored the

shores as far eastward as the island which bears his name (1614). If

exploration and discovery give claim, the Dutch certainly had priority; for

though the English navigators, Cabot, John Smith, and others, are supposed to

have sailed along the coast, their data are too indefinite to give a valid

claim. The first Englishman whose reports are reliable is Captain Thomas

Dermer, who sailed under instructions from Sir Ferdinando Gorges, afterwards

one of the proprietors of New Hampshire, in 1619. One object of his voyage was

to return to the island of Monhegan, near the mouth of the Kennebec, an Indian

named Squanto, who had been kidnapped with twenty-six companions by Hunt in

1614, and sold as slaves in Malaga, Spain, whence they were released by some

benevolent Spanish monks, whose efforts eventually returned most of them to

their native land. 




The account of Dermer's voyage in

his pinnace along the coast to Virginia is very interesting. He visited

Patuxent, on the shore of Massachusetts Bay, where, a year and a half later,

December, 1621, the Pilgrims were to land and establish their colony of

Plymouth, voyaged along the shores of Cape Cod, Martha's Vineyard, and Long

Island Sound, where, he says: "I fear I had been embayed." At what was

later Throgg's Neck, "a great multitude of Indians let fly at us from the

bank; but it pleased God to make us victors. Near unto this we found a most

dangerous cataract amongst small, rocky islands, occasioned by two unequal

tides, the one ebbing and flowing two hours before the other"; a very good

description of that terror of ancient navigators, Hell Gate. He then visited

Manhattan Island and "met with certain Hollanders who had a trade in

Hudson's River some years before that time (1619), with whom I had a conference

about the state of that coast, and their proceedings with those people, whose

answer gave me good content." Dermer was, therefore, the first Englishman

to visit the shores of the Borough. 




As early as 1632, the Dutch

bought from the Indians the lands in the fertile valley of the Connecticut on

both sides of the river, and Commissary Van Curler established a fort at the

junction of a small stream (now the Park River) with the "Fresh"

River, as the Connecticut was then called. The fort was near the site of the

present city of Hartford, and was called "Fort Good Hope." The arms

of the States-General were also nailed to a tree at Kievet's Hoeck (Saybrook

Point) on the west bank of the mouth of the river. An Englishman named Holmes

visited the river on behalf of the Massachusetts Colony, and, though threatened

by the commandant at Fort Good Hope, sailed his sloop past the fort and

inspected the land beyond. His report was so favorable that a colony was

established at Hartford, within a mile of the Dutch fort, whose garrison the

English treated with derision. One of the Dutch complaints reads: 




"Those of Hartford have not

only usurped and taken the lands of Connecticut, but have also beaten the

servants of their high mightinesses, the honored Company, with sticks and plow

staves, laming them." — 1640. 




For a humorous account of this

whole transaction, one should read the history by " Diedrich

Knickerbocker. " 




Remonstrances from the Dutch

followed continuously until 1663, when, for the purpose of adjusting the

conflicting claims, Governor Stuyvesant went in person to Boston, where he

stated before the New England commissioners who had been appointed to meet him,

that "he wished a friendly and neighborly settlement of differences

concerning Eastdorp, by the English called Westchester, and all other disputes,

that the parties may live in peace in the wilderness where many barbarous

Indians dwell." His negotiations were fruitless, as the New England

commissioners demanded more than his duty to his superiors would permit him to

grant. The loss of New Netherland by the Dutch transferred the controversy

about the boundary to their successors, and the final settlement of the

boundary line was not attained between New York and Connecticut until the

Congress of 1880-81. 




This boundary dispute was of so

much importance that, in the report submitted to the States-General and the

Company by Stuyvesant after the surrender to Nicolls, he says that the

unwillingness of the Dutch to defend the city was caused 




"by the attempts and

encroachments at the hands of the English in the preceding year, 1663. 




"First, through Captain John

Talcot's reducing Eastdorp, situate on the Main, not two leagues from New

Netherland, by order and commission of the government at Hartford." 




On March 12, 1663, Edward Jessup

and John Richardson of Westchester bought from nine Indians a tract of land

west of the Bronx River, extending south to the East River, and northerly to

about the middle of the present lower lake in Bronx Park; the western boundary

was a small stream called Bungay Creek by the English, or " Sackwrahung

" by the Indians; the eastern boundary was the middle of the Bronx River.

The tract was subdivided into twelve farms, and was therefore called the

"Twelve Farms, " or since these lay to the west of Westchester, more

commonly, the "West Farms." By confirmatory patent of Governor

Nicolls, dated April 25, 1666, the tract was divided into two equal portions

between the two original patentees. Jessup 's daughter Elizabeth married Thomas

Hunt of the "Grove Farm" on Throgg's Neck; they came into possession

of the neck extending into the East River, which thus became known as Hunt's

Point. This was by purchase from "Robert Beachem and Elizabeth, formerly

the wife of Edward Jessup, " of "all those hoeing lands and

accommodations that were formerly Edward Jessup's. " The deed is dated

June 20, 1668. 




In the southwest corner of the

West Farms strip, was a small tract whose ownership was in dispute between the

heirs of the patentees and the Morrises from 1666 to 1740, when the manor-lord

or Morrisania obtained possession. As there were a number of streams in that

locality, the question arose as to which was the Sackwrahung. The West Farms

people claimed that it was Bungay Creek, or Brook; Colonel Morris, that it was

the stream to the eastward, called Wigwam Brook, and later, Leggett's Creek and

Bound Brook. The disputed strip was long known as the "debatable

land." 




From the preceding accounts of

the grants during Dutch possession, it will be seen that comparatively little

was done in the way of development. A settlement grew at Harlem on Manhattan

Island, and it is not unlikely that some of the farmers occupied land on the

mainland. Thus we have the court records of a dispute in 1683, with the Jansen

brothers and Daniel Turneur as plaintiffs against Colonel Lewis Morris, for

four lots of meadow land at Stony Island, now Port Morris, which they had

cultivated under previous owners of Broncksland. The plaintiffs were

inhabitants of Harlem. They lost their first suit, when the Jansens withdrew.

Turneur then entered suit alone against Colonel Morris, and was finally

successful in proving ownership to the disputed land. 




The oppressive rule of the Dutch

irritated their Indian neighbors to such a pitch that the desire of retaliation

overcame their fear of the Five Nations, the friends and allies of the Dutch,

and thrice within twenty years, in 1655, 1658, and 1663, the Weckquaesgeeks,

the Siwanoys, and the Manhattans went on the warpath with their kindred

Mohegans in New Jersey and Long Island. The massacres and outrages perpetrated

on both sides were horrible; if anything, the Dutch were the more savage of the

two. In vain did Stuyvesant, after the Indian troubles of 1655, order the

settlers to form towns after the English fashion, an order not carried out for

years, except in the case of Esopus. These repeated Indian wars no doubt

retarded settlement to some extent, though English from both Virginia and New

England came into the colony, as well as the Walloons from Europe. 




The conditions during Dutch rule

are well summed up by the historian Eliot, who says: 




"Had the wars never

occurred, the colony would have made no rapid progress. In itself it was

divided by what may be called castes. The patroons, for instance, were an order

by themselves, not necessarily hostile to the authorities nor unfriendly to the

colonists, yet often proving to be one or both. Then the colony lay at the

mercy of the company and its director, whose supremacy was shared by none but a

few officials and councilors. The attempts at representation on the part of the

more substantial colonists were of no avail. The colony was still a colony of

traders. No generous views, no manly energies, were as yet excited among its

inhabitants or its rulers. From the slave to the colonist, from the colonist to

the patroon, from the patroon to the director, and even from the director to

the company, there was little besides struggling for pecuniary advantage. It

was esteemed a great era in the colony when, after various dissensions, in

1638, its trade was nominally thrown open. But the percentages to the company

were such as to prevent any really free trade." 
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